Appellant.

## TERESA VAUX-MICHEL'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian Fahling, WSBA #18894 Law Office of Brian Fahling 4630 116<sup>th</sup> Ave. NE Kirkland, WA 98C33 (425) 202-7092

Attorney for Petitioner



## TABLE OF CONTEN'IS

• 1. 1

ŝ

## Page

A.	<b>IDEN</b>	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER1		
B.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1			
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1			
D.	EMENT OF THE CASE2			
	1.	Background/Introduction		
	2.	The Court of Appeals' Commissioner's denial of the		
		Estate's motion for discretionary review and denial of		
		motion to modify commissioner's		
		ruling		
	3.	Reversal of the Superior Court by the Court of Appeals5		
E.	ARGU	MENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED5

#### A. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Teresa Vaux-Michel ("Ms. Vaux-Michel") respectfully seeks review by the Supreme Court of the published Court of Appeals decision identified in Part B.

#### B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion or December 23, 2013. The Court of Appeals' slip opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-14.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Whether CR 6 applies to litigation related limitations periods and time deadlines in TEDRA proceedings (RCW 11.40.080 and RCW 11.40.100) when no method for time computation is provided in those statute(s)?

2. Whether, when an estate's personal representative fails to timely accept or reject a claim within the time periods provided under RCW 11.40.080, the claim becomes ripe for adjudication and rejection of the claim thereafter no longer serves a purpose, or can the personal representative take advantage of her own failure to comply with the statute and subject the claimant to the time deadlines of RCW 11.40.100?

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Background/Introduction. The facts relied upon by the Court of Appeals in this case and the procedural history is set forth in the Court of Appeals decision. This lawsuit arose from Ms. Vaux-Michel's creditor's claim for a gift causa mortis left to her by Mark Stover, known as the dog whisperer and dog trainer to the stars. Mr. Stover knew his life was in danger and in the late summer and fall of 2009, he told his lawyer, a private investigator and close friends that he feared his ex-wife, Linda Opdycke, and her father, were going to have him murdered. A-21 to A-23. He also told these friends that he loved and plan led to marry Ms. Vaux-Michel and that he had left a check for her in case he was murdered.<sup>1</sup> Id. On October 28, 2009, Mr. Stover disappeared, and on October 22, 2010, a Skagit County jury convicted Michiel Oaks. the live-in boyfriend of Linda Opdycke, of murdering Mark Stover. A-23. After his murder, two checks made out to Ms. Vaux-Michel, each in the amount of \$150,000, were found in Mr. Stover's home. A-25 to A-26. Mr. Stover died intestate. A-22 to A-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The day before he went missing, Mr. Stover told Andrea Franulovich, a friend of more than 14 years, that he had proposed to Ms. Vaux-Michel and he then showed Ms. Hyrkas the ring he had purchased for her. A-24 to A-25.

On September 16, 2011, after nearly two years had passed and Mr. Stover's estranged sister, Anne Victoria Simmons,<sup>2</sup> had not given Ms. Vaux-Michel actual notice that she had been appointed personal representative of Mr. Stover's estate, Ms. Vaux-Michel filed her creditor's claim. A-25. When Ms. Simmons did not allow or reject her claim within thirty days from presentation of the claim, Ms. Vaux-Michel, on October 19, 2011, served written notice on Ms. Simmons informing her that she would petition the court to have the claim allowed. *Id.* Ms. Simmons failed to notify Ms. Vaux-Michel that she was either allowing or rejecting her claim within the statutory twenty day period after her receipt of the notice. *Id.* Ms. Simmons did file and mail a purported rejection of the creditor claim on December 20, 2011, nearly two months after she received written notice. *Id.* Ms. Vaux-Michel filed her petition in the trial court on January 23, 2012. *Id.* 

The Superior Court ruled that because the Estate failed to reject or allow Ms. Vaux-Michel's's claim within thirty clays of notice of the claim, and then failed to reject or allow, in part or in whole, Ms. Vaux-Michel's claim within twenty days after receiving notice that Ms. Vaux-Michel would petition the Court to allow the claim, the Estate no longer had

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Ms. Simmons had seen Mr. Stover just once in 20 years. *See* A-21. "There was estrangement to some extent in the family, making it less likely that relatives would necessarily be natural objects of Mr. Stover's bounty." *Id* 

statutory authority to reject Ms. Vaux-Michel's claim and, therefore, Ms. Vaux-Michel had a reasonable time within which to file her petition. A-26 to A-27. The Superior Court ruled that the provisions of RCW 11.40.100 ceased to be applicable when Respondent failed to exercise her rights thereunder by her failure to reject or allow, in part or in whole, Ms. Vaux-Michel's claim within 20 days after receiving notice. Id. Ms. Vaux-Michel filed her petition within in a reasonable time after notifying Respondent that she would petition the court. Id. Moreover, the Superior Court ruled that even if the thirty day period of RCW 11.40.100 was applicable, Ms. Vaux-Michel timely filed her petition. Id. at 27. The Estate mailed its rejection on December 19, 2011, Ms. Vaux-Michel received notice on, and had thirty days after December 19, 2012, to file her petition. Thirty days after December 19, 2012 was Wednesday, January 18, 2012, with three additional days for mailing (CR 6(e)), the date to file fell on Saturday January 20, 2012, which put "the first day other than a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, following the third day," on Monday, January 23, 2012. CR 6(e). The Superior Court then found that Mr. Stover had made a valid gift causa mortis to Ms. Vaux-Michel. A-25 to A-28. The Court of Appeals did not rule on the Superior Court's determination that Mr. Stover had made a valid gift causa mortis to Ms. Vaux-Michel.

#### 2. <u>The Court of Appeals' Commissioner's denial of the</u> <u>Estate's motion for discretionary review and denial of</u> <u>motion to modify commissioner's ruling.</u>

A Court of Appeals Commissioner denied the Estate's motion for discretionary review of the Superior Court's decision that Ms. Vaux-Michel had timely filed her petition. A-15 to A-18. The Estate's motion to modify the commissioner's ruling was also denied. A-19.

#### 3. <u>Reversal of the Superior Court by the Court of Appeals</u>

The Court of Appeals ruled that CR 6 does not apply to the limitations periods and time deadlines for TEDRA proceedings (RCW 11.40.100 and 11.40.080). It also effectively ruled that an estate's personal representative who has failed to allow or reject a claim within thirty days from presentation of the claim as required by RCW 11.40.080(1) & (2), and then fails to allow or reject the claim as required within twenty days after being served written notice that the claimant will petition the court to have the claim allowed, can thereafter reject the claim and take advantage of her own failure to comply with the statute. The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court as to both issues.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court is familiar with the criteria gc verning the acceptance of review of a Court of Appeals opinion. Here, the Court of Appeals decision satisfies three of these standards: RAP 13.4(b)(1-2) & (4). In an effort to

- 5-

avoid repetition of argument, the critical public policy concerns that arise because of the conflict between the Court of Appeals decision with numerous decisions of this and the Court of Appeals, the (b)(3) discussion will be integrated into the discussions of (b)(1) and (2) below.

#### 1. <u>The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior</u> <u>decisions of this Court</u>

This petition for review seeks the Supreme Court's affirmation that CR 6, perhaps the most deeply-imbedded and fundamental rule in litigation practice, applies to the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act's (TEDRA) litigation related limitations periods and time deadlines. See Troxell v. Rainier Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 307, 154 Wash.2d 345, 350, 111 P.3d 1173 (2005) (CR 6(a) "plainly applies to the computation of a litigation related deadline or limitations period"); In re Estate of Toth, 138 Wn.2d 650, 981 P.2d 439 (1999) ("CR 6(e) operates to toll the response time only in cases in which a party is required to respond within a certain time after being served or notified"). Reversal of the Court of Appeals decision would eliminate the confusion that will surely arise from its conflicting decision while affirming the "well-accepted premise [and sound public policy] that '[1]itigants and potential litigants are entitled to know that a matter as basic as time computation will be carried out in an easy, clear, and consistent manner, thereby eliminating traps for the unwary who seek to assert or defend their rights." Stikes Woods

- 6-

Neighborhood Ass'n v. City of Lacey, 124 Wash.2d 459, 463, 880 P.2d 25
(1994) (quoting, McMillon v. Budget Plan of Va, 510 F.Supp. 17, 19
(E.D.Va.1980) (bracketed material added)). The Court of Appeals
overthrew this well-accepted premise and sound public policy when it laid
its own trap for the unwary by ruling that CR 6 does not apply to the
litigation related deadlines of RCW 11.40.100 and 11.40.080.

Although this case involves only one estate, the implications of this published decision, if not reversed, will extend far beyond the facts of this litigation and will establish confusing, contradictory precedent for attorneys, lay people and courts. Because this decision conflicts with precedent and so clearly implicates a crucial public concern—the proper administration of the courts and the fair and just handling of estates—its public significance is paramount. Review by this Court is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(1-2) and (4).

> a. <u>The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior</u> <u>decisions holding that CR 6 applies to litigation</u> <u>related limitations periods and time deadlines in</u> <u>special proceedings.</u>

Though the meaning of the time requirements in RCW 11.40.100 has not been examined by this Court, the same language and time requirements found in its predecessor statute<sup>3</sup> was construed by this Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RCW 11.40.030(3) provided: "If the personal representative shall reject the claim, in whole or in part, he shall notify the claimant of said rejection and file in the office of the

in *Van Duyn v. Van Duyn*, 129 Wash. 428, 225 P. 444 (1924). In *Van Duyn*, the administratix claimed "that the action [was] forever barred because not commenced within 30 days followir g the notification of the rejection of respondents' claim," *id.* at 429-30, however, this Court held that the thirtieth day, which fell on a Sunday, should be excluded. *Id.* In so concluding, this Court observed that this statute "is not a general statute of limitation prescribing the period within which the action may be commenced after its accrual, but is a special and very short statute of limitation, and manifestly one under which the court should not contract the prescribed period except as the statute clearly and unmistakably compels." *Id.* at 433. This Court also observed, "[a]nother conservative principle which should affect the determination of the question is that the computation of time should be so made as to protect a right and prevent a forfeiture, if this can be done without violating a clear intention or a

clerk, an affidavit showing such notification and the date thereof. Said *notification shall* be by personal service or certified mail addressed to the claimant at his address as stated in the claim; if a person other than the claimant shall have signed said claim for or on behalf of the claimant, and said person's business address as stated in said claim is different from that of the claimant, notification of rejection shall also be made by personal service or certified mail upon said person; the date of the postmark shall be the date of notification. The notification of rejection shall advise the claimant, and the person making claim on his, her, or its behalf, if any, that the clai nant must bring suit in the proper court against the personal representative within thirty days after notification of rejection or Before expiration of the time for serving and 11ling claims against the estate, whichever period is longer, and that otherwise the claim will be forever barred." Marquam v. Ellis, 27 Wn.App. 913, 621 P.2d 190 (Wn.App. 1980) (emphasis supplied).

positive provision. *Id.* at 434. The Court of Appeals, though, ruled precisely to the contrary, contracting the prescribed period when it concluded that RCW 11.40.100's 30-day time requirement intended to convey 30 calendar days which, it said, is inconsistent with CR 6(a) and CR 6(e). Op. at p. 10. The Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with *Van Duyn*, and nothing has changed to warrant the rejection of its holding. The Court of Appeals failed to even cite to *Van Duyn*.

In Robel v. Highline Public Schools, Dist. No. 401, King County, 65 Wn.2d 477, 398 P.2d 1 (1965), this Court aff rmed the holding in Van Duyn, noting that "the issue was the application of RCW 11.40.030 authorizing notice of rejection of creditor's claims to be by personal service or registered mail." This Court then affir med its holding in Van Duyn that "when the notice of the rejection of the claim is given to the claimant by registered mail, the notification is in no event complete so as to start the 30-day statute running until a reasonable time for the transmission and receipt of the notice has elapsed following the deposit of the notice in the post office." *Id.* at 483. This Court "deem[ed] the rule announced in the *Van Duyn* case to be a fair and equitable one, and within the knowledge of the legislature in adding the existing notice-serving provisions. Accordingly, we hold it applicable to RCW 28.67.070. Robel, 65 Wn.2d at 483 (emphasis supplied); see also, *Thurston County* v.

- 9-

*Gorton*, 530 P.2d 309, 85 Wn.2d 133 (1975) (The legislature is presumed to know the construction placed upon statutes by the court).

This Court adopted CR 6 in 1967, see Order Adopting Civil Rules for Superior Court, 71 Wn.2d xvii (1967), and the legislature enacted RCW 11.40.100(1) in its present form in 1997, LAWS OF 1997, ch. 252 § 16. The Van Duyn and Robel decisions were wit in the knowledge of the legislature when it enacted RCW 11.40.100(1), but it chose not to change any part of the notice and time provisions. Moreover, with the knowledge of decisional law and knowledge that CR 6 embodies the holding in Van Duyn and Robel, the legislature incorporated CR 6 by not including a time computation provision that would have made RCW 11.40.080 inconsistent with the civil rules. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held precisely to the contrary. It did not even consider that the legislature could have, but did not alter the relevant parts of RCW 11.40.100(1) to supersede this Court's decisions. It ignored Van Duyn and Robel, and analogized instead to the unlawful detainer statute at issue in Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 376, 173 P.3d 228 (2007), finding that because RCW 11.40.100(1) does not specify whether "day" means a business day, court day, or calendar day, it would apply the ordinary meaning of day which includes weekends. Op. at 7. It also ruled that applying CR 6(e) to RCW 11.40.100(1)'s 30-day time requirement is contrary to the plain language

of the statute, Op. at 10, though that conclusion clearly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Van Duyn* and *Robel*.

The Court of Appeals ignored this precedent and instead relied primarily upon Christensen, a factually distinguishable case. Christensen considered RCW 59.12.030(3), a special proceeding under CR 81 that provided for a three day notice period preceding the filing of an unlawful detainer action. 162 Wn.2d at 369. Unlike RCW 11.40.100, though, RCW 59.12.030(3) is a substantive law provision regarding when a person is guilty of unlawful detainer. Also unlike RCW 1:.40.100, the legislature expressly provided that service by mail would add an additional day to the notice requirement, thereby expressly creating an inconsistency with CR 6(e); 162 Wn.2d at 374 (citation omitted). The "hree days" meant "three calendar days," and was clearly inconsistent with CR 6(a) only because CR 6(a) specifically excludes weekends and holidays from time periods of less than seven days, id. at 375. This reasoning cannot rationally or properly be applied to the "30-day" time period n RCW 11.40.100. Also, the "days" in RCW 59.12.030(3) are a waiting period and in *Troxell*, this Court differentiated between the application of CR 6(a) to limitations periods and waiting periods." Id. at 375. CR 6(a) applies to the computation of litigation-related deadlines or limitations periods, id., and does not apply to the computation of time for a waiting period. Id. at 358.

- 11-

It is clear, then, that CR 6(a) controls the computation of time when action must be taken within a period of time, as in RCW 11.40.100(1), but does not control the computation of time where action is prohibited until a period of time has passed.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts at every turn with existing Supreme Court precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1)

> b. <u>The Court of Appeals decision defeats the broad</u> <u>purpose for which the civil rules were enacted of</u> <u>eliminating traps for practitioners and the strong</u> <u>policy of resolving legitimate disputes brought</u> <u>before the court rather than leaving parties without a</u> <u>remedy.</u>

A TEDRA proceeding "is a special proceeding under the civil rules of court." RCW 11.96A.090(1).<sup>4</sup> The overall purpose of TEDRA "is to set forth generally applicable statutory provisions for the resolution of disputes and other matters involving trusts and estates in a single chapter under Title 11 RCW. The provisions are intended to provide nonjudicial methods for the resolution of matters, such as mediation, arbitration, and agreement. [This] chapter also provides for judicial resolution of disputes if other methods are unsuccessful." RCW 11.96A.010. Entirely consistent with TEDRA's stated purpose, and in furtherance of its goals, CR 1 provides that the civil rules "shall be construed and administered to secure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "The provisions of this title governing such actions control over any inconsistent provision of the civil rules." RCW 11.96A.090(1).

the just, *speedy*, and inexpensive determination of every action." *Id.* (emphasis supplied).

Moreover, applying CR 6 to RCW 11.40.080 and RCW 11.40.100 protects litigants who are "entitled to know that a matter as basic as time computation will be carried out in an easy, clear. and consistent manner, thereby eliminating traps for the unwary who seek to assert or defend their rights," Stikes Woods, 124 Wash.2d at 463, which is consistent with the principle that "the law favors the resolution of legitimate disputes brought before the court rather than leaving parties with ut a remedy," In re Estate of Palucci, 61 Wn.App. 412, 415, 810 P.2d 970 (1991). In Petrarca v. Halligan, 83 Wn.2d 773, 522 P.2d 827 (1974), the claim of plaintiffs was filed in the estate within the proper time limit but was not rejected until more than the 90 days allowed in RCW 11.40.100 to move to substitute the personal representative had elapsed. Id. at 775. The court ruled that to not apply CR 25(a)(1), which vested the superior court with discretion to substitute the personal representative, even if the substitution was not made within the time authorized by RCW 11.40.100, would defeat the broad purpose for which the rules were enacted of eliminating traps for practitioners. Id. at 776. The Court emphasized that "where a rule of court is inconsistent with the procedural statute, the power of this court to establish the procedural rules for the courts of this state is supreme." Id.

- 13-

Similarly, in *In re Estate of Van Dyke*, 54 Wn.App. 225, 772 P.2d 1049 (1989), the court ruled that RCW 11.24.020 does not supersede CR 19(b) because there are no inconsistencies between them. The court also determined that a CR 19(b) analysis was required because doing so is "consistent with the strong policy of resolving legitimate disputes brought before the court rather than leaving parties without a remedy." *Van Dyke*, 54 Wn.App. at 231.

The Court of Appeals decision lays a trap for the unwary by fundamentally altering how time is computed and it represents a sharp departure from the strong policy of resolving legitimate disputes brought before the court rather than leaving parties without a remedy. This Court should accordingly grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### 2. <u>The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior</u> <u>decisions the Court of Appeals.</u>

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