RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 13, 2014, 9:56 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 89829-4



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE ESTATE OF T. MARK STOVER, Deceased, TERESA VAUX-MICHEL,

Petitioner,

V.

ANNE VICTORIA SIMMONS, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF T. MARK STOVER, Deceased,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

John Sherwood, Sr., WSBA #2948 Peterson Russell Kelly PLLC 10900 NE 4th Street, Suite 1850 Bellevue, WA 98004-8341 (425) 990-4035 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 18010 Southcenter Parkway Tukwila, WA 98188 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent Stover Estate

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This case presents a straightforward question of statutory interpretation. This Court has repeatedly made clear that courts must effectuate the intent of the Legislature in enacting a statute and the courts must apply the plain language of the statute. *E.g.*, *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Vaux-Michel's creditor claim was untimely under RCW 11.40.100, and that RCW 11.40.080(2) did not provide an alternate procedure for presenting creditor claims, permitting a creditor to circumvent the requirement of the filing of a timely lawsuit regarding the claim under RCW 11.40.100. Vaux-Michel fails to demonstrate how the Court's decision merits review by this Court

under RAP 13.4(b) where she offers an interpretation of RCW 11.40.080(2) and 11.40.100 that is contrary to their plain language, and she studiously *ignores* this Court's key decision on the application of the civil rules to probate matters.

(1) <u>Vaux-Michel Did Not Timely File an Action on Her</u> Creditor Claim under RCW 11.40.100

Under RCW 11.40.100,⁶ the 30-day time period commences from the date of service of the rejection of Vaux-Michel's claim which is the date of the postmark.

It is *undisputed* that Vaux-Michel filed her claim on September 16, 2011, and that such claim was rejected by the Estate on December 19, 2011, when the rejection was mailed to Vaux-Michel's attorney by certified mail at the address listed on the claim. On its face, the declaration of service states that the rejection was mailed on December 19, 2011; the rejection specifically notified Vaux-Michel that she must bring suit in the proper court within 30 days after the notification of rejection, or her claim would be forever barred. CP 18.7

⁶ RCW 11.40.100 is set forth in the Appendix.

 $^{^7\,}$ To be timely, any lawsuit had to be filed by Vaux-Michel under RCW 11.40.100 no later than January 18, 2012.

It is also *undisputed* in this case that Vaux-Michel commenced the present action for her creditor claim in the trial court on January 23, 2012, 35 days after the postmarking of the rejection. CP 19.

RCW 11.40.100 expressly identifies "the date of notification" for purposes of commencing calculation of the 30-day window in which a claimant must file suit against the personal representative or her claim will be "forever barred." RCW 11.40.100.8

Despite this clear language, Vaux-Michel seemingly argues that the Court of Appeals erred in calculating the 30-day period for filing a lawsuit on a creditor claim, citing *Van Duyn v. Van Duyn*, 129 Wash. 428, 225 P. 444 (1924), and *Robel v. Highline Public Schools, Dist. No. 401, King County*, 65 Wn.2d 477, 398 P.2d 1 (1965). Petition at 7-10. Neither case assists her.

Both cases arose under the predecessor to RCW 11.40.100 which did not contain the provision that defines when notification to a creditor occurs for purposes of the limitation period for suing on rejected creditor claims. Op. at 6 n.4. In *Van Duyn*, this Court provided that the time period commenced from the date the creditor received notification of

⁸ RCW 11.40.100 spells out the requirements for service upon the claimant regarding the rejection of her claim, providing for personal service or certified mail, and the date of notification for each type of service, i.e. the date of the personal service, or the date of the postmark if service is by certified mail.

rejection in the absence of a statutory definition of notification. 129 Wash. at 431-32. *Robel*, pertaining to a teacher's notification of non-renewal of contract, is no different.

But RCW 11.40.100 was substantially rewritten into its present form in 1997. See Laws of 1997, ch. 252, § 16. Van Duyn predates that event by more than 70 years and Robel by more than 30 years. In the statutes discussed in those cases, there is no provision similar to RCW 11.40.100's direction that the notification date to the creditor is the postmark date. The Court of Appeals here observed that the statutory language of RCW 11.40.100 is plain and that "Vaux-Michel does not contend that RCW 11.40.100(1) is ambiguous." Op. at 6.

The time deadlines in the statute must be *strictly construed* according to this Court's long-standing precedent. Washington courts in the probate setting have treated time deadlines for filing creditor claims *strictly*. In re Kruegers Estate, 11 Wn.2d 329, 340, 119 P.2d 312 (1941); King County v. Knapp's Estate, 56 Wn.2d 558, 559, 354 P.2d 389 (1960) ("We have repeatedly held that this statute must be strictly construed, that its provisions are mandatory, and that compliance with its requirements is essential to recovery."). Such claim filing requirements are mandatory. Rigg v. Lawyer, 67 Wn.2d 546, 553, 408 P.2d 252 (1965). The statutory time deadline for filing creditor claims cannot be waived by the personal

representative. *Dillabough v. Brady*, 115 Wash. 76, 80, 196 Pac. 627 (1921).⁹

The Court of Appeals properly calculated RCW 11.40.100's 30-day window. The 30th day *after* the date of notification, December 19, 2011, is January 18, 2012, which is five days before Vaux-Michel filed her lawsuit. Vaux-Michel misleads the Court to the extent she asserts that the statute in place at the time of *Van Duyn* and *Robel* is the same as the present statute.

Vaux-Michel also contends that her action was timely under RCW 11.40.100 because CR 6(e)¹⁰ allowed her 3 additional days upon which to act where the Estate's rejection was mailed to her. Petition at 10-15. Vaux-Michel's argument, relying on the general applicability of the civil

⁹ Contrary to Vaux-Michel's policy arguments for which there is no case law support, petition at 12-14, there are strong policy reasons for strict compliance with time deadlines in probate-related statutes. A strict interpretation of RCW 11.40.100, op. at 6-7, 10-12, is amply supported by cases arising in other facets of the Probate Code. The need for certainty in the closure of an estate has been an important consideration for the Legislature. Strict compliance affords a measure of certainty that looser standards for the compliance with deadlines in probate-related statutes will not. That is the reason that the court in *In re Estate of Peterson*, 102 Wn. App. 456, 9 P.3d 845 (2000), *review denied*, 142 Wn.2d 1021 (2001), rejected the application of the discovery rule to filing of an action under the will contest statute. *See also, Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 670, 453 P.2d 631 (1969) (rejecting application of discovery rule to probate non-claim statute, RCW 11.40).

¹⁰ CR 6(e) states:

Additional Time After Service by Mail. Whenever a party has the right or is required to do some act or take some proceedings within a prescribed period after the service of a notice or other paper upon him and the notice or paper is served upon him by mail, 3 days shall be added to the prescribed period.

rules, ignores the express provisions of Title 11 that except from those rules any Title 11 "special proceeding" for which the Legislature has expressly provided procedures within Title 11. RCW 11.96A.090(1) specifically states: "A judicial proceeding under this title is a special proceeding under the civil rules of court. The provisions of this title governing such actions control over any inconsistent provision of the civil rules." (emphasis added). RCW 11.96A.090(4) also provides in relevant part: "The procedural rules of court apply to judicial proceedings under this title only to the extent that they are consistent with this title." (emphasis added). See also, RCW 11.96A.100(2) ("A summons must be served in accordance with this chapter and, where not inconsistent with these rules, the procedural rules of court...." (emphasis added)).

Accordingly, the express procedural provisions of Title 11 prevail over any inconsistent civil rules in this context, as this Court ruled in *In re Estate of Toth*, 138 Wn.2d 650, 981 P.2d 439 (1999), a case Vaux-Michel

CR 81(a) provides that the superior court civil court rules "shall govern all civil proceedings," "[e]xcept where inconsistent with rules or statutes applicable to special proceedings." (emphasis added). Subsection (b) of CR 81 reiterates the exception, noting "Subject to the provisions of section (a) of this rule, these rules supersede all procedural statutes and other rules that may be in conflict." (emphasis added). See CR 81(a) and (b). Vaux-Michel concedes that proceedings under RCW 11.96A.090 are special proceedings under the rule, petition at 12, but does not acknowledge the effect of the rule. She seemingly ignores the effect of CR 81 in arguing that the applicable statutes should give way to CR 6. Petition at 13-14.

neglects to address in any detail in her petition, although it was relied upon by the Court of Appeals. Op. at 10-11.¹²

In Toth, this Court noted the Court of Appeals determination that CR 6(e) does not apply to probate proceedings generally, because "[t]here is no controlling authority to support the ... position that CR 6(e) applies to probate proceedings." Id. at 656-57. The Court also addressed will contests specifically. A will contest, like any other Title 11 proceeding, is subject to RCW 11.96A.090(1). The Toth court addressed the timeliness of the commencement of a will contest, ultimately finding that the action was not timely filed under the will contest statute. RCW 11.24.010. The Court rejected the application of CR 6(e) to extend the period for a will contest, specifically noting that a will contest, like a creditor's claim, is a statutory proceeding, and the statutory provisions control. Id. at 653. The Court rejected applying CR 6(e) to the time periods for commencement of a will contest because nothing in RCW 11.24 contemplated such an This Court also acknowledged its strict extension. *Id.* at 654. interpretation of time deadlines for will contests. Id. at 656.¹³

Vaux-Michel references *Toth* in her petition at 6, but neglects to address the broader statement in this Court's opinion that CR 6 is inapplicable at all in the probate context.

This policy of strict compliance for will contests also applies to RCW 11.40.100. Campbell & Gwinn, 146 Wn.2d at 11-12 (a court may look to other related statutes to determine legislative intent).

Applying *Toth*, Division III subsequently held that "[a] will contest is a purely statutory proceeding, and the court must be governed by the provisions of the applicable statute. The jurisdiction of the trial court is derived exclusively from the statute, and may be exercised only in the mode and under the limitations therein prescribed." *In re Estate of Kordon*, 126 Wn. App. 482, 485, 108 P.3d 1238 (2005), *affirmed*, 157 Wn.2d 206 (2006) (quotation marks and citations omitted). In affirming Division III, this Court opined: "A court has no jurisdiction to hear and determine a contest begun after the expiration of the time fixed in the statute; neither does a court of equity have power to entertain such jurisdiction." *Estate of Kordon*, 157 Wn.2d at 214 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). The same is true for the statutory deadlines set forth in RCW 11.40.100, as discussed above.

No statutory language, and no case law, supports the argument advanced by Vaux-Michel that CR 6 should be imported into the calculation of time deadlines under RCW 11.40.100.

The principal authority cited by Vaux-Michel in support of her position are cases involving statutes that are not as complete as RCW 11.40.100. For example, Vaux-Michel cites an unlawful detainer case.

Canterwood Place v. Thande, 106 Wn. App. 844, 5 P.3d 495 (2001). Petition at 14-15. In that case, the court chose to apply CR 6 to the statutory time deadlines under RCW 59.12 because the statute did not contain a complete rule regarding time deadlines. Id. at 848-49. Vaux-Michel also cites Capello v. State, 114 Wn. App. 739, 60 P.3d 620 (2002), review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1032 (2003) in her petition at 14, 15. There, the court agreed with the policy considerations in Canterwood Place, holding that the computation of time provisions of CR 6(a) would be applied in calculating the time for a hearing under RCW 71.09.040 (providing for a probable cause hearing within 72 hours for a person taken into custody as a sexually violent predator). That determination, like the determination in Canterwood Place, turned on the fact that the statue in question was "incomplete because it is silent on the issue of the computation of time." Capello, 114 Wn. App. at 749. RCW 11.40.100 does not have that failing.

But Vaux-Michel has no real answer to this Court's decision in Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 173 P.3d 228 (2007), upon which the Court of Appeals properly relied in concluding that a statutory

The Legislature promptly amended the summons period for unlawful detainer actions after *Canterwood Place*; Laws of 2005, ch. 130, § 1, effectively overruling it.

provision, properly construed, controls over a contrary civil rule provision in a special proceeding like an unlawful detainer. Op. at 6-7. See also, Hall v. Feigenbaum, Wn. App., P.3d, 2014 WL 113407 ("...when the civil rules conflict with the unlawful detainer statute, the statute, as a 'special proceeding,' controls.") The Court of Appeals' analysis was also supported by Johnston v. Van Houck, 150 Wn. App. 894, 208 P.3d 548 (2009). That case supports the Estate's position here. The court stated: "RCW 11.40.100(1) . . . sets forth a sequence of events and a time period within which a claimant must sue." Johnston, 150 Wn. App. at 901 (emphasis added). The court further explained: "RCW 11.40.100(1) clearly contemplates a sequence in which a claimant will notify an estate of a claim, the estate will notify the claimant of the claim's rejection, and the claimant will then sue within 30 days or be forever barred from such action." Id. at 903. That is precisely what happened here. Vaux-Michel submitted a claim, the Estate rejected it, and 35 days after the rejection, she filed suit, but her claim is barred under RCW 11.40.100.

RCW 11.40.100 is complete. It defines when rejection of the claim by the personal representative is effective. It advises that claimants like Vaux-Michel that they must file their lawsuits to uphold a creditor

claim within 30 days of the personal representative's rejection of that claim. It deliberately does not provide for a mailing rule like CR 6.

The Court of Appeals below correctly ruled that the express language of RCW 11.40.100, strictly construed, required that Vaux-Michel file this case within 30 days of the rejection of her creditor claim. Op. at 7. RCW 11.40.100 provides that the personal representative's rejection was effective from the date that the personal representative put that rejection in the mail and CR 6 did not extend the statutory time deadlines. She had 30 days thereafter in which to file the lawsuit. She did not do so. The lawsuit was commenced more than 30 days after the rejection of her claim. Her lawsuit should have been dismissed as untimely, as the Court of Appeals properly ruled. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) RCW 11.40.080(2) Does Not Create a Separate Statute of Limitations Apart from RCW 11.40.100

Vaux-Michel argues that RCW 11.40.080(2)¹⁵ somehow creates a separate statutory sequence from that of RCW 11.40.100, allowing her to dispense with any obligation to follow the time deadlines of RCW 11.40.100. Petition at 16-18. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this erroneous reading of the plain language of the statute. Op. at 8-9. The

¹⁵ RCW 11.40.080 is set forth in the Appendix.

language of RCW 11.40.080(2) does not support that argument. Vaux-Michel fails to cite any relevant case authority for her position.

Nothing in the statutory language of RCW 11.40.080(2) states that the time deadlines of RCW 11.40.100 no longer apply. Op. at 9. RCW 11.40.080(2) requires the personal representative to act on a creditor claim within the later of 4 months of the notice to creditors or within 30 days of the presentation of the claim by the creditor. If the personal representative fails to do so, the creditor may notify the personal representative that the creditor will petition the court to address the claim. Vaux-Michel served such a notice on October 19, 2011. CP 22, 41-42. Under RCW 11.40.080, the personal representative then has 20 days to address the claim and if he/she does not do so, the creditor may file a lawsuit on the claim.

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